
THE GOVERNANCE OF THE TEFFONTS
“TWO CIVIL PARISHES OR ONE”
Following the establishment of County Councils in 1888, the Local Government 1894 Act of Parliament split the powers of the existing pre-1894 Parish system between the Church of England ecclesiastical Parishes and the new civil parishes.  Although the 1894 Act was eventually replaced by the Local Government 1933 Act, the system it set up is, in principle, unchanged.

This Act established two possible organisations which, in parallel, are the lowest level of Government in England and Wales. The two possible structures are Parish Councils and Parish Meetings.  The expression “Parish Meeting” is confusing as the same two words cover both the structure used for civil Parishes with less than 300 electors and also the Assembly of all the electors in a civil Parish with more than 301 electors.  To make the matter even more complicated, the term Parish Council which is used throughout this document may, in practice, have the title of Town Council or even City Council.  Thus the Parish Council for Teffont and the City Council for the whole of Salisbury both have the same powers as each other though, of course, the larger Councils will in reality have the actual power that money gives them.

.

Because of their history and their resulting populations, the Teffonts provided, in 1894, examples of both a Parish Council and a Parish Meeting - the latter in both senses of the term.  Because, in the 19th Century, each of the Teffonts were separate Ecclesiastical Parishes – or Vestries (though Teffont Magna was until October 1922 part of the Vestry Council of Dinton), each had a successor Civil Parish established under the terms of the 1894 Act.  Sorry if this sounds so complicated but it is.
Because of the small number of electors – remember that women did not have the vote, though they could become Councillors at this time - in Teffont Evias (alternate spellings of Evyas, Evias and Ewyas are used in different documents) that Parish did not result in a Parish Council but just in a Parish Meeting which had an annual Assembly or meeting.  The first of these was held on Tuesday, December 4th 1894; it was not long before the independence of that Meeting was under attack as can be seen from the minutes of a meeting dated July 29th 1895 where the following resolution was proposed and carried unanimously:
“That this Meeting, being of the opinion that the affairs of the Parish of Teffont Ewyas, in the Administrative County of Wilts, will be best managed in accordance with the wishes and interests of the parishioners of that Parish by the Parochial electors belonging to it assembled in their own Parish Meeting without interference from such electors belonging to any other Parish, desires to put on record its protest against the proposal of Wilts County Council to join it for the carrying out of the Local Government Acts 1888 and 1894, with the adjacent Parish of Teffont Magna…….”

 The first business at each year’s Assembly was to elect a Chairman which in 1894 and for all subsequent Assemblies until 1911 was the Vicar, the Reverend John Hewitt; on average, attendance appears to be less than ten people  The other business in each year’s Assembly was the election of two Overseers of the Poor.  There was no Assembly in 1912 because of the illness of Reverend Hewitt who died in either 1912 or early 1913 but for the meeting in April 1913 Mr Scammell was elected.  Soon after this, a new rector, Rev Sir Douglas Scott, Bart, was appointed to the Living but before he was in a position to be elected Chairman of the Parish Meeting, he was made bankrupt, charged with bigamy and defrocked.  At that stage the 1st World War interrupted normal business and in March 1919 with a new vicar, Reverend G T Miller, in the Chair, the following was written into the Minute Book:

“For six years there has been no meeting, owing partly to the changes in the incumbency in the Parish & chiefly the Great War of 1914-19”.

This first post-Great War meeting was followed, in June 1919, by a Special Meeting to discuss the need, a need that was only in the end to be satisfied after 57 years, for the building of cottages under the auspices of Tisbury Rural District Council; in addition to the electors from Evias, one Colonel Kennedy Shaw, who had recently moved into Teffont Magna, attended this meeting on behalf of the Housing Committee of the District Council of which he was a member.  The conclusion, after the subject had been “well ventilated” was that Evias should bid for three cottages but nearly 60 years later they were still being asked for. The Minutes of that Special Meeting were not signed until March 1922 indicating that no annual Assemblies were held in 1920 or 1921.  At the 1922 meeting the only business was the election of a new Chairman, the Reverend Oscar Worne, and the re-election of the Rural District Councillor, Mr. Fennell.  1923 appears to have no Assembly but there was one in March 1924 again with Reverend Oscar Worne as Chairman with five other people attending. 1925 had a meeting but 1926 did not. In all cases where Assemblies were held almost the only business was the election, or, more normally, the re-election of the Chairman, virtually always the vicar, and the appointment of the Overseers of the Poor, the District Councillor and the Assistant Overseer of the Poor.  The latter was a Mr Seamark, the Schoolmaster from Chilmark and his responsibilities - and eventually his title - appear to be that of the Clerk.  At a number of meetings, letters were received from Mr Seamark and minuted asking for an increase to his annual salary which over the years increased from £5 to just over £7.

1927 had a meeting, apparently because “The Authorities” required two persons to serve on the Rating Authority.  There was one short final entry in the Evias Minute Book which stated that 

“1931 A meeting was duly called for March 11th in the Manor School for the election of the Chairman of the Parish Meeting and for the consideration of a letter from the County Council for a proposed Conference to consider the Review of County Districts.  No business was done as no quorum the only persons present being Mrs. Trotter of Greystones and W Keatinge Clay, Rector”.

To see the results of that Conference, we need to pick up the story with Teffont Magna.

Because Teffont Magna had a larger population than Evias, it was eligible to have set up, in 1894, a Parish Council albeit with only the minimum number of (five) Councillors.  On or about the 4th December 1894, there must have been a Parish Meeting (in the Assembly meaning of the term), at which the five Councillors were elected.  No minutes of this Assembly have been found but they may be in the “old Vestry minute book” which we know was held in 1895 by Mr William Chubb of Teffont Magna. Its current location is still being sought. The first Parish Council Meetings were held, countrywide, on or about 17th December 1894 although the first minuted Teffont Magna meeting was held on April 9th 1895.  That a further five meetings were held in 1895 shows the enthusiasm with which the new Parochial system had been greeted – the 1894 Act of Parliament was often called the Parish Council Act  One matter was a problem - Magna’s Parish Council was not correctly set up – the five Councillors elected a non-Councillor, Rev Treadway S  Clarke, as their Chairman. This resulted in an instruction from Wiltshire County Council that the Chairman should not vote, except when using a casting vote.  It is interesting to compare the different sort of items raised at the Evias Assemblies with those from the Magna Parish Council which seems much more at the nuts and bolts level; the first item raised concerned problems of burning refuse and polluting the stream.  One activity sounds very sensible - it was to list all the Magna Parish documents and their current locations.  These were:


The Old Vestry Minute Book


William Chubb of Teffont Magna




The Enclosure Awards with maps

Mr Guy Wyndham of Dinton House



The Tithe Apportionment


Rev Audland of Dinton Vicarage


Copies of Bye-Laws of Rural Sanitary Council

Mr Marsh , Clerk to Tisbury RDC





Sundry Announcements, Accounts and Vouchers of overseers







William Chubb of Teffont Magna

Many of the items raised in the various Parish Council meetings will be looked at in more detail in subsequent articles and can be understood better as a result but one is particularly interesting.  The final decision of the first Parish Council meeting held, on 9th April 1895, was that “the public be not admitted to the Council Meetings which proposition was carried unanimously”; you may feel that in a democracy a decision like that  might have lasted for only a few years - but it was not rescinded until May 1969!

The enthusiasm that resulted in the Parish Council meeting fairly frequently (6 times in 1895, 3 times in 1896, 4 times in 1897 and 3 times in both 1898 and 1899) did not last.  Minutes become much shorter half a page rather than half a dozen.  In April 1904, the five Councillors unanimously passed a Resolution that read:  ”That in so much that that it has become evident that a Parish Council is no longer necessary to manage the affairs of the Parish of Teffont Magna and as no interest in the proceedings of such a Council is taken by the Parochial electors and it is difficult to obtain the names are such electors, who are willing to be nominated as Councillors. The County Council of the Administrative County of Wilts be respectively to make an order dissolving such Council.” and forwarded it to County Headquarters at Trowbridge.  The County Council took this matter seriously and requested that a Special Parish meeting be called to which the Resolution was laid.  There was considerable correspondence between County Hall and the village and the bottom line for this was that David Darling, the Chairman and one of this year’s Overseers of the Poor, wrote to County Council saying that he believed that the principal ratepayers were not in favour of an amalgamation as suggested. It was he who raised the matter in the first case and he appears to be something of a pain.  The relevant Committee of the County Council in the end agreed that they would not send an order for the Council to be dissolved and Mr H Lever, who had just been co-opted as a Parish Councillor in place of Mr Darling who having raised this matter in the first case had died, proposed “that the Parish Council for the Parish of Teffont Magna be maintained”; the proposal was seconded and carried..  One of the strange things about that whole business was that the Annual meeting of the Parish of Teffont Evias was held while this debate was continuing but that the Evias minutes make absolutely no mention of what was happening just up the road even though that, if the dissolution and amalgamation had come into effect, it would have affected both Parishes.

One other thing happened in 1904 or 1905 which was to have considerable effect on the Parish Council.  Mr Seamark, the school teacher at Chilmark, who since early in 1904, had become Assistant Overseer to the Poor for Teffont Evias took up that role for Teffont Magna as well - one assumes that having the same person in that role which was to metamorphoses into Clerk at some time, would make for sensible liaison though the various sets of Minutes do not show this.  Mr Seamark was to hold that position until 1943, almost 40 years. 

After all this excitement, Parish Council activity, or at least what showed in the Minutes, became very quiet for the next fifteen years.  There was an Annual meeting with the one every three years (1907, 1910 and 1913), an election year although perhaps the term selection would be more accurate.  With the exception of one year when only four people offered themselves, there would be five attendees at the meeting with each nominating one of the others.  There was then a pause of a few minutes, the length defined by the appropriate Act of Parliament and the same people found themselves as the five Councillors.  At each Annual Parish Council meeting, the same person as last year, always Rev Cook as Chairman, was elected and the various Councillors were nominated as Overseers to the Poor, as Trustees for the Village Charities, on the Board of the School Managers - some of the latter may be someone other than Councillors; the accounts, audited by the Rural District Auditor, would be approved and that was almost that for another year. Occasionally there was something specific to discuss such as stone throwing by the local children or the location of a new pillar box.  If that seems dull, try the position during the 1st World War where there were no minuted meetings nor elections at all.

And it did not improve a great deal in the 1920s although the arrival of Colonel F Kennedy Shaw to live in Teffont Magna provided a focus for Village activity.  Originally he lived in Kings Orchard but later he retired from being agent for Lord Bedisloe and moved to Bathurst Cottage.  He will figure in a number of the articles and was Chairman of Teffont Magna Parish Council from 1919 to 1934 and then of Teffont Parish Council from 1934 to 1946. He was also a District Councillor and was mentioned at the meeting with Evias held in 1919 to discuss housing needs.  He had retired from the Army after the Boer War in 1902, though he was probably called back to fight in the 1st World War. His typical behaviour can be shown in that someone arriving to the Village with the rank of Captain at the end of 1963, was summoned to visit him, well into his nineties and still at Bathurst Cottage, to be briefed about “the army of today”.  For his first ten years as Chairman of the Parish Council, he also held the position of Treasurer of the Magna Parish Council though the accounts were kept by Mr Seamark, the Clerk.  One step forward was the first election of a lady, a Mrs. McPherson; in the absence of Colonel Kennedy Shaw she even chaired the meetings on more than one occasion; she served as a Councillor from 1922 to 1929 when she left the village; she was replaced by a Mrs. Jesse Ash (another token lady?).
What happened next? – the Minutes of both Magna and Evias are singularly unhelpful.  What we do know is that a Local Government Act in 1929, though its main purpose was to abolish the Poor Law Union and the Guardian system, “also made provision for the restructuring of urban and rural Districts as more efficient local government areas; at the same time a large number of Parishes within them were amalgamated”.  We cannot see the details of the discussions (probably the Conference mentioned in the final Evias minute) in 1931 but the minutes of the Finance, Law and Parliamentary Committee of Wilts County Council, under the chairmanship of Lord Radnor, quoting the 1929 Act, promulgated in late 1931 the amalgamation of Tisbury RDC (Rural District Council) and Mere RDC, the result to be called the Mere and Tisbury RDC. Within the Tisbury RDC two parish amalgamations, one of them being that of Ansty and Swallowcliffe and the other that of Teffont Evias and Teffont Magna were announced.  The triennial 1931 Local Government Elections had already been held when these amalgamations were announced so it was not until 1934 that they could actually be implemented. It seems strange that the in 1932 and 1933 Annual meetings of Teffont Magna and for its Parish Council – we are down to a single Parish Council meeting per year at this time, often merged with the Annual Parish Meeting – neither have any reference to the amalgamations nor announced it.  More interest seems to be about broken drains outside Manor Farm, the boundaries of the manoeuvres be used for Army training and the fact that a Mr Thomas Cox had taken over part of the Pound, possibly without any title to the land.  

Then it all changed.  The minutes of the annual Parish Meeting for March 6th 1934 started with the words “The Parish Meeting for the election of seven Parish Councillors for the new Parish of Teffont was held in the Schoolroom on Monday March 5th.  There was a large attendance of Local Government Electors.  On the proposal of Mr Crouch, seconded by Mr Keatinge, the chair was occupied by Mrs. Keatinge.  Mr Seamark (Clerk) briefly notified the new changes in the name of the Parish and that the new alterations gave the parish seven Councillors under the name of “The Teffont Parish Council”.  The Chairman then asked that Nomination Forms should be handed in.  Eight forms were received for nominations and were duly examined and numbered by the chairman.  After reading out the names of those nominated any withdrawals were asked for. The Reverend Keatinge Clay at once withdrew his nomination in order to avoid a contested election.  After waiting the prescribed time, the chairman proclaimed the following as Parish Councillors for the three years ending April 14th 1937”
So Democracy made a small step forward.  In fact, reading the Minutes of the next five years, up to 1939, there is a completely different atmosphere about the Council; they sound much more like recent Minutes with concerns about the siting of speed limit signs, footpath concerns especially the closure by RAF Chilmark, fencing and heavy and fast traffic through the village.

1937 produced another uncontested election and by the time the next one was due, in 1940, the 2nd World War had started.  Unlike the 1st World War, Local Government did not go into total abeyance this time but at a meeting of the Council on 26th March 1940, the Clerk read out a circular from “The Ministry” notifying the fact that there would be no election of Parish Councillors this year and “that the present Council should continue in office with power to elect in case of vacancies arising from resignation, death or other causes, persons to fill the vacancies”.  In the early part of the War, meetings were restricted to one or two a year but, later on, planning for the future meant that there were more meetings.  One notable item was the resignation of Mr Seacock early in 1943 “on account of age and difficulty in traveling” after almost 40 years service to the Village.  The Council accepted his resignation with regret and desire to record on the minutes their appreciation of the way he had performed his duties.  One of the existing Councillors, Mr T I Phillips, was appointed as Clerk at the same salary as that of his predecessor which was £2.10.0 per annum!  A  meeting late in 1944 covered two items at length, the first being a long discussion about the need for a Village Hall and a separate Committee was set up to pursue this, the second covered “Comforts to members of the Village now serving in H M Forces”.  At least one of these are hoped to be separately documented.

By 1946, there had been no Local Government elections for nine years – remember the Ministry Circular in 1940 putting them on hold – but that was about to change.  As the 1946 election was to be the last one using the system put in place in 1894, perhaps it is worth while reminding people what had operated since then.  When a Parish Council election was due, a Parish Meeting was called and the electors proposed that someone who did not intend to put themselves forward as a Councillor be proposed and elected to chair this Parish Meeting – and only this Meeting.  That “temporary” Chairman asked for nominations for the potential Councillors.  The nominations were in the form for potential Councillors who complete a nomination and hand it to the Meeting’s Chairman.  If there were more people offering themselves than there are places, there was a show of hands to select who the new comers of electors, the Chairman announced that Councillors should be.  The meeting chairman offers those who have put themselves forward the option of withdrawing as Rev Keatinge Clay did at the 1934 election.  As will become clear, in the detail of the 1946 election, it was possible for certain rules to be exercised which would result in a secret ballot.  Once the new Councillors had been elected, the meeting continued as though it was a “normal” Annual Parish Meeting – looking back through the old Minutes, it is clear that it was normal for there to be little other business but at the 1946 meeting there was a discussion as to whether the Reading Room should become the new Village Hall.  Once that meeting ended with a vote of thanks to the meeting chairman, the Clerk called the Annual Meeting of the Parish Council, which may be the same day or later and the first item on the agenda is the election one of the new Councillors as Chairman for the next year – followed by the same process for the Vice-Chairman – and also for the Clerk.

So that is the theory – what actually happened at this Parish Meeting on the 11th March 1946.  The Minutes records that “There was an excellent attendance of Local Government electors”. Colonel Kennedy Shaw who had held the position of Chairman of Teffont Magna Parish Council and then of Chairman of Teffont Parish Council for the previous 25 years did not stand to be a Parish Councillor – in fact, he chaired the Parish Meeting which resulted in the election of the Parish Councillors and he was probably well into his 70s by this time at the end of a long war.  Twelve people stood for the seven seats; the nomination papers were sorted by the Chairman who waited the legally requirement of 15 minutes before the nominations were read out.  They were Mr W F Crouch, Mr C H Lever, Mr R E Lever, Mr C W Merrifield, Mr W C Stokes, Mr C Giles, Mr E M Keatinge, Brigadier W Willan, Mr E Clarke, Mr W F Coombes, Mrs. M G Buchanan and Mr G H Bull.  Polling then took place by a show of hands and the following is the record of that poll.
	G H Bull
	37 votes
	C Lever
	34 votes

	R E Lever
	32 votes
	W F Crouch
	29 votes

	C Giles 
	27 votes
	W F Coombes
	25 votes

	W C Stokes
	22 votes
	C Merrifield
	17 votes

	E M Keatinge
	11 votes
	M G Buchanan
	11 votes

	E Clarke
	10 votes
	R H Willan
	9 votes


A demand was then made for an election by secret ballot and this being supported by the requisite number of electors, the Chairman announced that the election would take place 1946 on Saturday March 30th.  
The minutes became somewhat sad at this stage and read:

A Parish Council meeting was held at Colonel Shaw’s house on Friday March 29th (the day before the secret ballot was to be held).  “As there were not sufficient members present to form the necessary quorum, the meeting was abandoned.”  It feels like the Old Guard were no longer wanted.  The Minute book that had started in 1931 ends at this stage and a new more efficiently laid out one took over.
A fortnight later, on 15th April, the new Council met – in the Reading Room – and their first action was to vote Mr W F Crouch as Chairman for the next 12 months.  By comparing with the list of the new Councillors from the result of the “Showing Hands” election, it can be seen that having a Secret Ballot had no actual change to the result.  Mr Giles was elected as Vice Chairman and Mr Philips as Clerk.
The next few years saw a lot of activity by the Parish Council, especially to deal with the construction of bus shelters but not a great deal affecting the Governance of the village.  One item was as the decision of the Parish Council to have its own Bank Account.  Of greater interest was a proposal that future Local Government Elections should all be by Secret Ballot; this removed the need for an election to being held at a Parish Meeting.  This was approved of by Wiltshire County Council early in January 1947. During the nine years between the elections in 1946 and the one in 1955 during the period when Mr W F Crouch was the Chairman of the Parish Council, one is left a strong impression that the Governance, while not illegal, was only or when actually necessary.  It changed again when, in 1955, Major General Rankin was elected not just as a Councillor but also as the Chairman of the Council.  Meetings were very close to being held on the regular basis of six per year that we have had for the last 50 plus years.  What does not happen is the level of attendance at Annual Parish Meetings which, apart from the Councillors are typically limited to one or (occasionally) to two.  Major General Ranking died, probably unexpectedly, around the end of 1961 and was sorely missed.
At the end of 1963, Manor Farm was sold by Mr Crouch and the new owners, the Potter-Pitcairn partnership, were prepared to have a major level of involvement in Parish and in the Parish Council affairs.  Alistair Pitcairn was co-opted onto the Council in 1964 and, in 1968, became firstly Vice-Chairman and then Chairman.  His brother-in-law, Dr Potter, became a Councillor and, in due course, in 1984, his wife, Jane Pitcairn, became Clerk for 15 years.  Soon after Alistair Pitcairn had become Chairman, the 1895 Standing Order that prevented anyone but Councillors attending Parish Council Meetings was rescinded.
The late 1960s saw major National changes in Local Government arrangements culminating in the 1972 Local Government Act. This, among other things, resulted in the abolition of Rural District Councils – in our case Mere and Rural District Council – and the setting up of Salisbury Council which became the Planning Authority affecting our Parish.  The 1972 Act gave the Parish Council the power to be CONSULTED about Planning Applications once the Parish Council had decided it wished to exercise this power – which it did in 1974.  Although this power was not very great it was amplified by the fact that, in 1972, Conservation Areas were established in appropriate Parishes, one of which was Teffont; the boundaries of these Conservation Areas became of importance.  For interest, by 1986, there were 69 of these Conservation Areas set up in the old Salisbury District Council area.
Once the Parish Council had established that all Planning Applications should be forwarded to the Clerk, it had to decide how it should review these; this was particularly difficult as the District Council Planning Officers started by insisting that Parish Councils only had 14 days in which to comment; eventually this was settled to be three weeks but even this was short.  To deal with this, the Parish Council started by establishing a Standing Order by which the applications would be reviewed by a Planning sub-committee consisting of the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman.  It was soon realised that this caused problems if one or other of these were away, so the first amendment to this procedure was that another Councillor would have to deputise for either the missing Chairman or the Vice-Chairman.  It was also agreed that the plans would be made available in the Post Office.
1974 also saw another welcome agreement.  In January, it was decided that, from now on, Parish Council meetings would be on a regular basis with six per year, one in January, one in March (before the Annual Assembly), one in May (the Annual Parish Council one) and the remainder in July, September and November.
In 1977, in order to help the Council in its planning decisions, it decided to produce a Village Appraisal; a separate section is proposed for this.

A year later the change of Clerk from Ted Gledhill to Richard Long-Fox resulted in a proposal to set up a Committee structure.  As this, when accepted, was to be in effect for the next 35 years, it is important enough to quote it verbatim from the Minutes of 7 February 1978.That Minute read:
“The proposals for setting up of a Committee Structure.  The proposals circulated by the Clerk were discussed and he explained that they were essentially to legalise existing practice; they would allow planning matters to be dealt with at fairly short notice without other items to be considered.  After some discussion where it was agreed that all planning matters should be dealt with, even at the Sub-Committee level by all the Councillors, it was proposed by Mrs. Willan, seconded by Mr Webb and unanimously accepted that:-
a) The Council would set up a Planning Committee to which would be delegated all the powers of the Council in the matters of Planning and Planning Applications.  The membership should be the same as the full Council and it should have the same Chairman and Vice-Chairman.
The Committee is to report on any decisions taken at the next Council meeting.

b) The Council would set up a Planning Applications Sub-Committee which would have the power to screen Planning Applications and to comment to the District Council on those which, in its view, are in such minor                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           importance that they need not be referred to the Planning Committee.      The Sub-Committee is to report on any decisions taken at the next meeting of the Planning Committee or, if a Council is held before the Planning Committee meets, to the full Council Meeting.  The membership will consist of all the members of the Council and have the same officers as the Planning Committee”.
What is not spelt out here but was relevant was a stipulation in the 1972 Act that, while full Councils and Committees had, except in Confidential sessions, to be open to the Public, that did not apply to Sub-Committees.  This power were rarely used but its availability was a relief to our Parish Councillors. 

It was a busy meeting because it also covered, for the first but not the last, the matter of Declarations of Interest.  These are of such importance that it is again worth quoting from the Minutes:

“The Clerk reported that his reading of the recently purchased book on Local Government had brought to his attention the legal requirement to have a book in which Declarations of Interest are noted.  This has been acted upon and the Clerk displayed the book in which Declarations of Interest stretching back to the beginning of his tenure of office have been noted.  The book has, as with the Minute Book, to be available for public inspection.  The Chairman took the opportunity to point out the dangers of not complying with the Law in matters of this sort”.
The end of that year brought a Parish Council Meeting with a very large amount of correspondence - 25 separate items (letter, circulars etc.)  The Councillors agreed that, in future, the Clerk and the Chairman should weed out the irrelevant items.
When Salisbury District Council was set up (1974), one of their innovations was an annual meeting with their Parish Councils for which questions could prepare in advance.  In 1979, Teffont had the first question which resulted in a useful discussion about consultation, especially in planning matters.  We felt that the replies were less than perfect but it was useful to get the matter aired.
In 1982, central Government continued to make changes in the law, some of them affected Parish Councils.  The latest one to do this was the system by which Parish Councils get their share of the Rates by demanding a Precept through the District Council.  It is planned that there should be a separate section on Precepts but it is worth noting here that the 1983 change prevented Parish Councils from making more than a single demand on the Precept annually.  As Parish Councils are not allowed to be bankrupt, it was, from that time, necessary to hold larger bank balances
The Annual Assembly in 1981 was a debacle with just three attendees, the Chairman (Alastair Pitcairn), the Clerk (Richard Long-Fox) and one Councillor (Fred Coombes).  With no quorum, it was decided to cancel the meeting.  A report covering what would have been produced was written.  As May 1982 got ever closer, the Chairman and the Clerk decided to invite a representative of the major functions in the village to attend – as both attendees and audience.  This worked very well with just under 20 attendees in 1982 and an ever-growing number of users in the years to come.  It also had the major advantage of providing input data about functions such as the Reading Room, the Village Hall and the Village Show.
In 1983, the Council was approached by the County Record Office, then at Trowbridge, to ask if Parish Council Minute Books and other important could be stored there.  This was agreed and, after existing Councillors had reviewed the various papers, they were sent to Trowbridge and on to Chippenham.
In 1984, Jane Pitcairn took over as Clerk for the next 15 years, her husband having given up his role as Chairman.  Another change in dealing with the various Planning Applications has resulted in the fact that members with those Applications who were Councillors were becoming too involved in discussions; in future, the Applicant was to move over to the body of the Hall rather then staying at the tables.

At each Annual Meeting of the Parish Council, the Committee Structure was voted on to continue but in May 1987, when doing this, it was agreed that the Planning Sub-Committee was no longer needed.  Four years later in 1991, the Council decided to re-instate it.  One other comment from the Minutes hints, in 1988, into some difficulties with Special Parish Meetings.  It reads “Purpose of Village Meetings.  It was agreed such meetings were necessary, if only as a “safety valve” to allow views to be expressed, and that they could be useful for the guidance of Parish Councillors.”.
In 1994, the Committee structure was confirmed as usual but with the extra comment: “It was decided that nothing but Planning Matters should be discussed at planning sub-committee meetings”.  A year later the wording from the equivalent Minute read: “Standing Orders were reaffirmed.  The Chairman drew attention to the Code of Conduct and the paragraph concerning the Declaration of Interests. Leaflets concerning this were circulated to new Councillors.   The formation of a Planning Sub-Committee of all Council members were reaffirmed, with delegated powers to Chairman and Vice-Chairman on minor applications.” In 1995 the Clerk suggested that all publications received should be put on a table for interested Councillors to be seen; this was agreed.
In 1996, the Council decided that there could be circumstances in which it needed to go into Confidential Session.  A procedure for this was proposed by the Vice-Chairman and this was agreed.  The procedure was as follows:
PROCEDURES TO BE USED WHEN TEFFONT PARISH COUNCIL OR ANY OF ITS COMMITTEES OR SUB-COMMITTEES NEED TO GO INTO CONFIDENTIAL SESSION 

1. The decision to go into Confidential Session must be made by a formal vote, proposed, seconded and carried by a majority of those present.

2. Such a decision will be made only in exceptional circumstances.  Examples of these are:

- When the Council is discussing a matter which some other Council (Salisbury District Council, Wiltshire County Council or another Parish Council) has requested to be dealt with confidentially;

- When an open discussion could undermine either Teffont Parish Council’s, or some other Council’s, position in commercial negotiations.

3. For the period when the Council is operating in Confidential Session, all non-Councillors except the Clerk (or Acting Clerk if there be one) will be excluded from the room in which the Council is meeting.

4.  The subject(s) discussed in Confidential Session will be separately minuted from the remainder of the meeting.  A reference to these Confidential Minutes together with the resolution to go into Confidential Session, plus the time it was entered and completed, will be included in the main minutes.  The minutes of the Confidential Session will not be entered in the main minute book but will be kept separately, available only to Councillors and the Clerk and to Auditors if the latter so request; they will be clearly marked CONFIDENTIAL to distinguish them from the main minutes. No copies of the minutes of the Confidential Session will be distributed to Councillors.

5.  Approval of minutes of a Confidential Session will be at a subsequent meeting in a Confidential Session to allow these minutes to be read aloud before their approval.

6. If any matters arise at a subsequent meeting from a Confidential Minute, the Council must decide whether to go into Confidential Session before dealing with them; the procedure outlined above will be followed if it should so decide. These procedures will be confirmed for the following year - or changed if is felt appropriate to do so – with any other Standing Orders and the Committee structure at the Annual Meeting of the Parish Council each year.
At the Annual Parish Council Meeting in May 1994, it was agreed that only Planning matters may be dealt at Planning Sub-Committees.  A year later, there was another tweak to this in that it was agreed that appropriate applications might be delegated to the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman.  The Chairman used the opportunity to remind Councillors about the Declaration of Interest rules.  Later that year, it was decided that all outstanding correspondence received by the Chairman or the Clerk would be put out on a table at the side of t the Hall for Councillors to look at both before and after Council meetings.
In 1996 a special meeting with representatives from the PCC, the Village Hall Committee and the Parish Council was held to produce a definitive resolution of who will contribute how much for village grass cutting.  Agreement was reached and has held ever since

The agreement, recently confirmed in a memo, read:

GRASS CUTTING CHARGES FOR THE VILLAGE HALL AND PCC

The purpose of this Memorandum is to document, in the light of likely changes in the people involved, the history and agreed arrangements under which Teffont Parish Council subsides much of the costs of grass cutting around the Village Hall, the two graveyards, Teffont Magna Churchyard and the area around Teffont Evyas Church.

Until the middle of the 1980s, all the areas of grass mentioned above as well as the Village Green which was, and is, the responsibility of the Parish Council, were cut by various volunteers using their own equipment.  As there were less and less people prepared to take on this task, sometime between 1984 and 1995, the Parish Council decided to contract out all this work and to pay for it from the precept.  Almost immediately, arguments arose as to why those who did not use the Church facilities and, to a lesser extent, those who rarely attended functions at the Village Hall should be paying for this service.  The other side of this argument was that everyone, whether Churchgoer or Village Hall user or not gained, both on property value and general attractiveness of the Village; each year there were some debate about this and about how much, if at all, the Parish Council should subsidise the other organisations.

Around 1996 or 1997, the Parish Council, which had slowly upped the amount it charged the PCC and the Village Hall Committee but only at the expense of a lot of time and ill will, proposed the setting up of a working party to finally agree both the principle of Parish Council subsidy and, if that was agreed, what percentage of the cost they should cover.  

The working party accepted the principle that subsidising a percentage of the costs was fair in that all those living in the Village and paying Council Tax were gaining from keeping the grass cut throughout the Village.  After much discussion, it settled on a figure of 25% of the costs of the grass cutting in the various areas for which the PCC and the Village Hall Committee were responsible.  This means that the Clerk to the Parish Council must get from the Contractor each year the costs of cutting the various different area - something quite complex as the graveyards are cut less frequently than the rest of the grass.  These cost figures are calculated at the end of the grass cutting seasons and then invoiced to the PCC and Village Hall Treasurers.

This system has now worked satisfactorily for over 15 years and it is my strong recommendation that it should continue unchanged.

E R Long-Fox

Chairman, Teffont Parish Council

7 January 2013
At the first meeting of 1997, a discussion took place about AOB (Any Other Business).  With the help of Diana Farrow of WALC, the following was added to Version 7 of the Council’s Standing Orders:

RULES FOR AOB

The following are taken from a pamphlet on Standing Orders and Chairmanship produced by the NALC and have been adopted by the Parish Council

“Any Other Business”

The summons to a meeting of a Local Council must by law specify the business to be transacted; a Local Council cannot legally to decide to take any action under the general heading of “any other business” because these words do not specify any item of business.  This rule prevents the Council deciding any business which will have either expenditure consequences or lead the Council into a legal situation for example by making a contract.  There is no practical objection to exchanges of information under “AOB” or the giving of a preliminary notification of important business for next time.
“Urgent” Business

The law makes no provision with dealing with “urgent” business.  If it is “urgent only because it was not notified in time to appear on the agenda, it should be left till the next meeting.  If it is genuinely “urgent”, that it was too late for the agenda and it will be too late for action if left to the next ordinary meeting, an additional meeting should be called for the or the Council should have a regular arrangement for such matters either to a committee or for the clerk for action.  It is contrary to local government law for the Chairman or any other member to take a decision binding the Council.
Later in that year, the Council decided to add to their Standing Orders a new procedure by which meetings of both the Council and its Committees would start with a Public Question Time.  The following procedure was adopted:
1.  A period of up to 10 minutes, with a maximum extension to 20 minutes at the Chairman’s discretion, will be allowed at the start of each meeting for “interventions” by the Public; this will allow the Public to ask questions, to make requests of the Parish Council or to make observations.  This period will be after the Clerk has tabled any apologies for absence but before the minutes are signed or any matters arising are dealt with
2. Regardless of the type of intervention, the member of the Public will always address it to the Chairman of the Council.

3. If the “intervention” is a question (i.e., a request for information), the Chairman will either provide the answer him/herself, ask the Clerk to provide the answer if it is likely that the Clerk will know it or, exceptionally, ask one of the other Councillors to provide the information if it is probable that they would be able to do this (e.g. information about a footpath might be requested of the Councillor currently responsible for the Council’s involvement with these.).  If the answer is not known by the Chairman and he or she does not believe that the information is immediately available but does lie within the Council’s files he or she will commit the Clerk to supply it to the requestor within a reasonable time period.
4. If the “intervention” is a request that the Parish Council should take some action (this will include raising a matter with some other body or organisation) the Chairman will note the request, asking amplification of it f he or she deems that to be necessary and will then refer it to the Parish Council Meeting that is to follow.  In doing this, he or she will be following the procedure that is followed at the Annual Village Assembly.  During Public Question time, there will be no discussion of the matter among the Councillors nor will the Chairman make any commitment on behalf of the Council except that the request will be considered by it in due course.  During the Parish Council Meeting, if there is already an agenda item involving this matter, the request can be considered at this time; if it is a new item, it can be considered under AOB, provided that it does not involve the Parish Council in any “contract “or expenditure – see Standing Order on AOB.  It would however, often be reasonable for the Parish Council to agree to approach either the District or County Council with a request as a result of the “request” forms to be paid in a more timely manner, a n the member of the Public.  If the request, if acceded to would result in the Parish Council agreeing a “contract”, then the matter must be left until it can be put on the advertised agenda for the next meeting.
5.If the “intervention” is just an observation, the Chairman should ask whether the person, when they had completed what they want to say, wishes the matter to be taken forward to the Parish Council Meeting.  If the answer is “no” that is the end of it; if it is a “Yes”, it should be treated the same manner as a “Request”
In June 1998, the Council identified a problem it was encountering in paying with its suppliers at occasions other than full Council Meetings; at least one supplier – the grass cutter – was invoicing the Council monthly but if cheques were only paid at Meetings, this meant the supplier only being paid every other month giving him a cash flow problem.  To resolve this, the following new Standing Order was added:
“On those occasions when the Council has entered into a Contract which will result in its making one or more financial payments to a supplier and the total amount involved has been agreed and minuted at a full meeting of the Council, the Clerk as Responsible Financial Officer is empowered to draw up cheques to make either interim or final payments against that Contract between meetings and to get them signed by Councillors who are authorised cheque signatories only providing that no cheque so signed will take the total paid beyond the amount agreed for that Contract.  The fact that one or more such payments has been made will be raised by the Clerk at the next full meeting of the Council and minuted as part of the proceedings of that meeting.  At the same meeting, the Clerk was formally appointed to the position of Responsible Financial Officer of the Council, a position recommended by the last Audit.
In 1999, Salisbury District Council produced a document redesigning its Political Management Structure and circulated it to Parish Councils for comment.  Councillors agreed that the changes were too rapid and would detrimentally affect the new Area Committees.  The Parish Council delegated a composite reply to be drawn from individual comments and agreed by the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman.
Also in 1999, the Council agreed that a more complete set of Standing Orders should be drawn up and with help from WALC and various ones recently written by other Parish Councils, work started on this; a draft was; at the first meeting in 2000, approved subject to – after some changes to paragraphs 15 and 18 as well as Appendix A.  Because of a computer head crash in 2006, the earliest version of the Council’s Standing Orders now extant is the 2007-1 version.
2000 was a year of change.  Not only did we have the addition of Standing Orders but our Clerk of the last sixteen years was forced by her failing health to resign.  She was replaced with a newcomer to the village called Mr Clemitson.  For various reasons, he did not last and created a problem by wishing to be a one-man Company rather than an employee.  Early in 2001 he was replaced by Zillah Faulkner who was to be a tower strength for the Council for t the next twelve years.

In the next year, 1992, legislation from Central Government resulted in the Council being forced to adopt a Code of Conduct and for Councillors each to complete a Register of Interests – not only the Councillors but also their spouses which was not popular!  Despite this, it was all completed by 1st May 2002; all this caused fairly extensive changes to Standing Orders which were amended and re-adopted in their changed form.
Early in 2003, the Chairman briefed the Council that with effect from 28 February 2003 all local Government and Parish Councils are required to make available certain information.  The Chairman recommended and the Council adopted the Model Scheme and made the following resolution:
“Teffont Parish Council acknowledges the duty placed on it by the Freedom of Information Act 2000 to adopt and maintain a publication scheme.  The Council resolves to adopt the Model Scheme for Local Councils (Core Classes only).  It also adopts the publication processes and sets charges of £3 to view a document and £5 for a hard copy”.
By 2003, the Parish Council team of Zillah Faulkner, as Clerk, Richard Long-Fox as Chairman and Carol Jacobs followed by Ben Kerwood as Vice-Chairmen had established themselves capable of dealing with governance issues, both internal to the Council itself and those foisted on them by Central Government.  The latter included the definition of the number of clear days before Council Meetings and Question Time rules. 2005 also included proposed Community Plans and Regional Assemblies while the accent for 2006 was about the Sustainable Development Bill.  Through all this decade a variety of different concerned people worked on (and frequently and often failed on the VDS – eventually rescued by Sara Willan “Hot Potatoes” in 2008 covered Councillors’ Register of Interest and their Codes of Conduct.  Also in 2008, following a full audit, the Council developed a full set of Regularity Instructions which include financial papers and these were readopted, at every year’s AGM, thereafter.  

The list was: 

Standing Orders

Financial Regulations

Financial Risk Assessment

Safety Risk Assessment
Risk Management Policy

The Asset Register

The Council were happy to accept Medium Risk on the river bank

2009 saw the inception of the Area Boards with their own form of grants called PIGS; Teffont Village Hall has been particularly successful in getting these awarded.
This 120 years history of the Governance of the Parish drew to a close in 2014 with the resignation of Zillah Faulkner and her replacement as Clerk by Clare Churchill.  It was clear that her approach would be very different; a quote from Richard Willan, when he was our last County Councillor, made in the context of Planning Applications, expands this:

”He felt Teffont Parish Council had ensured there is always openness with regard to applications and this should be the agreed practice for all Parishes”.
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